IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC00954

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. CR 94-7132

THOMAS GUDINAS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JULIUS J. AULISIO FLORIDA BAR NO. 0561304 ASSISTANT CCRC

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Thomas Gudinas' motion for post conviction relief which was brought pursuant to the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On July 15, 1994, an Orange County grand jury indicted Tommy Gudinas of first degree murder, two counts of sexual battery, attempted sexual battery, and attempted burglary with an assault (V8, 441-43). The crimes occurred on May 24, 1994 (V8, 441-43). Mr. Gudinas was tried by a jury May 1-4, 1995, and found guilty of all counts (V8, 538-542). After a penalty phase conducted on May 8-10, 1995, the jury recommended death by a vote of ten to two (R. V5, 562). On June 16, 1995, the trial court sentenced Tommy Gudinas to death (V8, 444-66).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Tommy Gudinas' convictions and sentences. <u>Gudinas v. State</u>, 693 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1997). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 20, 1997. Gudinas v. State, 522 U.S. 936 (1997).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Tommy Gudinas filed a shell post-conviction motion on June 5, 1998, before his one-year date, in order to toll Federal time periods. On May 18, 1999, Tommy Gudinas filed a motion directing the state to release certain physical evidence for DNA testing (V9, 776-78). The court denied that motion on June 23, 1999 (V9, 799-802). On July 19, 1999, Tommy Gudinas filed an amended 3.850 motion for postconviction relief (V9-V10, 808-68). The state filed its response on August 18, 1999 (V10, 869-994). Tommy Gudinas filed a second amended motion for postconviction relief on

September 30, 1999 (V10-V11, 1002-64). On October 14, 1999, Tommy Gudinas filed a motion for continuance because his expert, Jan Vogelsang, could not be prepared to testify until February, 2000 (V11, 1065-69). On October 26, 1999, the court denied the motion and scheduled the evidentiary hearing for December 17, 1999 (V11, 1071-75). Tommy Gudinas filed a motion for continuance on December 1, 1999 (V12, 1325-29). In that motion, counsel stated they needed a continuance because: they had another two-day evidentiary hearing scheduled the same week as Mr. Gudinas', Jan Vogelsang could not complete her work on the case before early summer of 2000, as a result of Ms. Vogelsang's preliminary findings, Dr. Lipman recommended a pet scan which could not be conducted before December 17, 1999, and counsel did not have time to prepare for the hearing (V12, 1325-29). The court denied the motion on December 3, 1999 (V12, 1337-38). Tommy Gudinas filed a motion to release physical evidence for DNA testing on December 6, 1999, and the court reserved ruling on the motion on December 7, 1999 (V12, 1352-53).

Despite counsel's assertions that neither they nor their witnesses were prepared and needed more time to ensure an adequate evidentiary hearing, the court held a limited evidentiary hearing on December 17, 1999 (V6 131-32, V7, 391-92). Before testimony, Tommy Gudinas renewed his motion to continue the evidentiary hearing (V7, 131). The court denied the motion (V7, 132).

Fred Harris, Tommy Gudinas' cousin, testified that Tommy had

an abnormally violent reaction to LSD when he was fourteen years old (V6, 134-39).

Ellen Evans, Tommy's aunt, testified that she lived with or near Tommy Gudinas' family during the majority of Tommy's childhood (V6, 143-44). Tommy's mother was a chronic drug user and abused drugs and alcohol throughout her pregnancy with Tommy and during his childhood (V6, 145, 148, 151, 155, 160, 164, 169). Tommy's father also abused drugs and alcohol throughout Tommy's early childhood (V6, 148, 155). Both Tommy's mother and father, as well as his mother's boyfriends, brutally abused Tommy (V6, 149, 152, 153, 154, 161, 162, 164, 170). Tommy's parents were sexually deviant, participating in cross dressing, homosexual activity, and prostitution (V6, 155, 156-58, 166). Tommy's mother was hatefully verbally abusive and facilitated many of his problems and placements with the Massachusetts Department of Youth Services (DYS) (V6, 170-72).

Tommy was an abnormally small child and suffered feet problems which affected his movement (V6, 175-76). Because of this, Tommy was ridiculed by other children (V6, 175-76). Both Ellen Evans and Fred Harris testified that Tommy has blackouts (V6, 139, 171-72).

Ellen Evans testified that Tommy was raped while in DYS custody (V6, 173-74). Mrs. Evans also grew up in the DYS system, and testified that children in the system must learn to fight to survive (V6, 175-76).

Dr. Upson, the psychologist who testified at Tommy Gudinas' penalty phase, testified that trial counsel could have provided him with more information to substantiate and strengthen his opinions (V6, 186). Dr. Upson testified that much of his penalty phase testimony was based on assumptions, and he needed more information to substantiate those assumptions (V6, 186). Dr. Upson also testified that a social worker would have been helpful during the penalty phase, because social workers are trained in family dynamics and development and may be able to gather more relevant data (V6, 205).

Trial counsel Michael Irwin testified that he tried one penalty phase before representing Tommy Gudinas (V6, 208). He and co-counsel, Robert LeBlanc, who had no penalty phase experience, shared all duties of representation (V6, 211-12). Tommy Gudinas did not want an insanity defense (V6, 212-13). Irwin testified that Tommy told him the victim's body was heavy to drag, so Irwin decided to avoid investigating forensic evidence at the crime scene because it might inculpate Tommy (V6, 245-48). Counsel attempted to hire a neuropharmacologist who could confirm Tommy's drug use through hair testing (V6, 216-20). In an off-the-record meeting in chambers, the county attorney and the court determined the neuropharmacologist's fees were excessive, and counsel could not hire that neuropharmacologist (V6, 216-20). Counsel failed to find another neuropharmacologist who would work for the approved fees

(V6, 220). Irwin testified his quilt phase strategy was to suggest reasonable doubt and, to do so, he introduced into evidence Detective Griffin's testimony and four composite drawings (V6, 220-27). Irwin was flabbergasted at trial when Jane Brand, a state witness who previously could not identify Tommy Gudinas, identified Tommy Gudinas at trial as the person she saw near the crime scene (V6, 227-29). Irwin did not consider Jane Brand's surprising new identification a discovery violation, so he did not object or move for a mistrial (V6, 228). Irwin thought Dr. O'Brien should have heard witness testimony or read witness' transcribed testimony, but could not remember why Dr. O'Brien did neither (V6, 230-31). Irwin did not think he was responsible for directing expert witnesses in their evaluations, "and I certainly wouldn't have time to hover over every single expert and tell them specifically everything they need to do" (V6, 231). In another in chambers off-the-record conversation, Judge Dawson and the county attorney objected to a mitigation specialist's fees, so counsel hired a general investigator (V6, 232-33).

Irwin felt obligated to let Tommy's sister testify during the penalty phase (V6, 233). Irwin failed to object to the prosecutor's misconduct during the penalty phase closing arguments because he thought the court told him to save objections until the prosecutor finished (V6, 234). He felt constrained throughout the trial because Court TV broadcast the proceedings live (V6, 236).

Every time counsel needed to confer with Tommy, they pressed a kill switch, otherwise the conversation was broadcast live nationwide (V6, 236). Though he found Court TV a distraction and would have preferred not to have them at the trial, counsel did not attempt to eliminate or minimize the distraction (V6, 271-72). Tommy did not always cooperate with the mental health experts (V6, 249-50). Irwin chose not to use two mental health experts, Dr. Appel and Dr. Danziger, because he felt they were not sympathetic (V6, 249, 256, Irwin felt Tommy's background was a double edged sword, and chose not to "dwell" on it during the penalty phase (V6, 261-62). However, counsel did present Tommy's background as mitigation (V6, 284-85, 289). Irwin investigated Tommy's background by reading documents the Public Defender's Office procured (V6, 262). He did not think a social worker could help with mitigation (V6, Irwin believed the state of Massachusetts gave Tommy psychiatric and psychological help (V6, 288-89). Irwin did not know if he spoke to Ellen Evans and did not ask Fred Harris about mitigation because he felt Fred was a hostile witness (V6, 290-91).

Dr. Lipman, a neuropharmacologist, testified at the evidentiary hearing. Dr. Lipman testified that Tommy Gudinas has a documented and confirmed history of neurodevelopmental problems, serious poly-drug abuse history, and adverse and idiosyncratic reactions to LSD (V7, 303, 316-18, 324-25). Tommy suffers an attention deficit disorder which rendered him pathologically

impulsive and minimally educable (V7, 304). Tommy's attention deficit disorder, depraved social environment, and poly drug abuse combined to impact his neurological maturation (V7, 312-15). Children with attention deficit disorders are driven to drug use as self-medication (V7, 315, 327, 331). Though diagnosed numerous times, Tommy was never treated for his attention disorder or any other problems (V7, 332).

Robert LeBlanc, Tommy Gudinas' other trial attorney, also testified at the evidentiary hearing. Tommy's was Mr. LeBlanc's first capital case, and he deferred most decisions to Irwin (V7, 344). Though he was responsible for the penalty phase, Mr. LeBlanc did not remember ever speaking to penalty phase witness Dr. O'Brien, and he believed that Irwin spoke with Dr. O'Brien (V7, 345, 370). Mr. LeBlanc spoke to Ellen Evans and noted she had good mitigation information, but he could not remember why they did not present her testimony (V7, 346-47, 370-71, 374). Because this was Mr. LeBlanc's first case, he did not know how helpful a social worker could be (V7, 347). Mr. LeBlanc testified that, if he had Tommy's case now, he would hire a social worker (V7, 347, 372). He also testified that counsel should have contacted someone who could explain how the Massachusetts Department of Youth Services (DYS) handled Tommy Gudinas (V7, 349). Mr. LeBlanc testified that Tommy told him he remembered waking up near the victim (V7, 363). Irwin made the decision not to pursue forensic evidence (V7, 366).

Jeffery Lee Ashton, one of Tommy's prosecutors, testified that he would not have agreed to allow Tommy to plea guilty and receive a life sentence if he waived the 25 year parole provision (V7, 375-77).

Jan Vogelsang, a licenced social worker, testified at the evidentiary hearing. Ms. Vogelsang testified she did not have time to complete her work on Tommy Gudinas' case, and Tommy Gudinas again moved to continue the evidentiary hearing (V7, 391-2). The court denied the motion (V7, 392). As a result, Ms. Vogelsang could only testify to provisional opinions and initial impressions. (V7, 392).

Ms. Vogelsang testified that both of Tommy's parents were raised in very violent and alcoholic families and began abusing drugs and alcohol at an early age (V7, 400-401). Tommy's mother, Karen Goldthwaite, drank alcohol while she was pregnant with Tommy (V7, 402). Tommy's parents fought ferociously and separated frequently (V7, 402-03). Tommy's home was "that kind of chaos and that kind of unpredictability [which] produces a great deal of anxiety and fear" (V7, 405). On both sides of the family, there was incest or inappropriate sexual behavior across two or three generations (V7, 402-3, 427-8).

Ms. Vogelsang explained that Tommy Gudinas' records document his escalating fear, anxiety, depression and, correspondingly, his escalating discontrol. Ms. Vogelsang opined that because there was

no medical explanation, trauma in Tommy's home caused his discontrol (V7, 416). Ms. Vogelsang explained Tommy's escalation of fear, anxiety, and depression, which school officials first noted when Tommy attended first grade (V7, 407-28). Tommy's escalating discontrol was recorded in school and mental health records until Tommy was nineteen years old (V7, 407-28). Treatment, especially long-term psychiatric care, was continually recommended, but never given (V7, 407-28).

Tommy was first placed in the Massachusetts Department of Youth Services system when he was thirteen years old (V7, 422). DYS placed Tommy in approximately fifteen different programs, over one hundred times (V7, 422). Ms. Vogelsang spoke to Tommy's DYS case worker and learned that none of the placements offered treatment, and all were merely detention units (V7, 424). During some placements, Tommy lived at home with his mother, and a case worker monitored him (V7, 425). Tommy never received psychiatric care (V7, 425).

Ms. Vogelsang concluded that DYS failed Tommy Gudinas. DYS should have taken Tommy from his violent and abusive parents and placed him in protective custody, where he could receive long-term treatment (V7, 418). Instead, DYS shuffled Tommy between detention units and his violent and abusive mother and step-father (V7, 422). Mental health professionals should have medicated Tommy (V7, 419). In addition to the emotional problems resulting from the trauma of

his violent and abusive home, Tommy suffered an attention deficit disorder (V7, 420). The attention disorder, in combination with his emotional problems, drove Tommy to use alcohol and drugs as a form of self-medication (V7, 421).

The court denied Tommy Gudinas' Second Amended Motion To Vacate Judgments Of Conviction And Sentence on March 20, 2000. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. The lower court prevented Tommy Gudinas from presenting his case during the postconviction evidentiary hearing by refusing to grant a continuance for his counsel and expert witness to effectively prepare and refusing to allow Tommy Gudinas to test the evidence found at the scene for DNA to prove his innocence.
- 2. The trial court erred in summarily denying Tommy Gudinas' claim that counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's misconduct was ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 3. Tommy Gudinas proved at the evidentiary hearing that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at his penalty phase proceeding because counsel failed to investigate and prepare mitigating evidence. The trial court erred in not granting a new penalty phase.
- 4. The trial court erred in holding that counsel's failures to investigate evidence, cross-examine witnesses, and make appropriate objections and motions were not ineffective assistance

of counsel.

- 5. Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar unconstitutionally prevents Tommy Gudinas from investigating claims of juror bias and misconduct.
- 6. Because counsel preformed ineffectively, Tommy Gudinas' death sentence is based on two unconstitutional aggravating circumstances and an unconstitutional instruction.
- 7. Cumulative error deprived Tommy Gudinas of his right to a fair trial and resulted in his death sentence.

ARGUMENT I

MR. GUDINAS WAS DENIED FULL AND Α EVIDENTIARY HEARING IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS AND THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION CORRESPONDING **PROVISIONS** OF AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. The lower court prevented Tommy Gudinas from presenting his case during the postconviction evidentiary hearing by refusing to grant a continuance for his counsel and expert witness to effectively prepare.

On October 14, 1999, Tommy Gudinas filed a motion for a continuance to allow his expert witness, Jan Vogelsang, time to prepare (V11, 1065-69). The motion stated that Ms. Vogelsang had two other cases which prevented her from finishing work on Tommy Gudinas' case until February 2000 (V11, 1065-69). Though Ms. Vogelsang's testimony was imperative to Claim II, the court denied a mere two month continuance to allow her to finish work on the case.

On December 1, 1999, Tommy Gudinas filed a second motion for a continuance (V13, 1325-27). The motion gave many reasons why a continuance was necessary. Thomas Gudinas' counsel had a two-day post-conviction evidentiary hearing scheduled the same week the court scheduled his evidentiary hearing and another evidentiary hearing the month before (V13, 1325-27). Due to their frenzied schedule, Tommy Gudinas' counsel was not adequately prepared for his evidentiary hearing (V13, 1325-27). Ms. Vogelsang needed more time to complete her work on Tommy Gudinas' case (V13, 1325-27).

Additionally, after consulting with Ms. Vogelsang, Dr. Lipman recommended Tommy Gudinas have a PET scan to determine frontal lobe damage (V13, 1325-27). All of this work could not be completed before December 17, 1999. The court denied the motion on December 2, 1999 (V13, 1337-8).

On December 17, 1999, Tommy Gudinas renewed his motion to continue the evidentiary hearing (V7, 131). The motion gave many reasons why a continuance was necessary. His counsel did not have time adequately prepare for the evidentiary hearing. Additionally, an imperative witness, Tommy Gudinas' Massachusetts Department of Youth Services case worker, was not able to fly to Florida to testify on December 17, 1999 (V7, 131). This case worker monitored Tommy Gudinas throughout his 105 DYS placements and personally knew what occurred in every placement. testimony was imperative to explain the nature of the placements, how DYS handled Tommy Gudinas, and how the placements affected Tommy Gudinas. Ms. Vogelsang had not completed work on the case (V7, 131-2). Counsel was not able to procure the PET scan before December 17, 1999 (V7, 132). The court denied the motion (V7, 133). Tommy Gudinas again moved to continue the evidentiary hearing after Jan Vogelsang testified she did not have time to complete her work on Tommy Gudinas' case (V8, 391-2). Again, the court denied the motion (V8, 392).

The court's obdurate refusal to grant a continuance denied

Tommy Gudinas an adequate evidentiary hearing. The court granted a hearing on the issues:

a. That defense counsel was ineffective for failing to hire a social worker to assist the jury in understanding the childhood treatment provided to the Defendant and the effects of the 105 childhood placements.

(V11, 1072).

* * * *

- d. that the Defendant's history of alcohol and drug abuse was not thoroughly investigated.
- e. that defense counsel did not adequately investigate the Defendant's background and life history for purposes of presenting mitigating evidence in the sentencing phase.

(V11, 1073-74). However, the court denied Tommy Gudinas the ability to present evidence regarding these issues because the court refused to grant a continuance to allow counsel, experts, and witnesses time to work on the case and even time to travel to Florida to testify. As a result, Tommy Gudinas was not able to present imperative evidence at his evidentiary hearing.

Because the court denied Tommy Gudinas a continuance, he was able to present only a fraction of the available mitigation his trial counsel should have presented. As a result, the court found the evidence presented cumulative or inadequate to result in a life recommendation, and denied Claim II of Tommy Gudinas' 3.850 motion (V12, 1401-09). The crux of Claim II was that trial counsel barely

scratched the surface of the available mitigation and were, therefore, ineffective. By refusing to grant a continuance, the court ensured that similar mitigation would be presented at the evidentiary hearing. The court repeatedly noted this and relied on it to deny Claim II.

The Defendant did not offer any significant evidence during the evidentiary hearing which trial counsel should have provided to Dr. Upson for sentencing. . . But, the Defendant was unable to establish that such evidence was available at the time of the original proceedings or even available now. . . Thus, the Defendant's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not providing further details on the Defendant's placements is without merit.

(V12, 1402).

* * * *

During the evidentiary hearing, the Defendant did not demonstrate what further evidence was available to support the doctor's opinion regarding the lack of long-term treatment, nor was there any showing of prejudice necessary to establish ineffective assistance.

(V12, 1403).

* * * *

The Defendant has not shown what further effort of defense counsel could have been exerted.

(V12, 1403).

* * * *

Significantly, the Defendant failed to present any evidence as to a plausible medical cause of the blackouts. (V12, 1405).

* * * *

Ms. Vogelsang did not present any information or opinion which differed from that already presented at the earlier proceedings.

(V12, 1407).

* * * *

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