IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS LEE GUDINAS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-954

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

IV. THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF GUILT PHASE COUNSEL CLAIM²³

On pages 78-84 of his brief, Gudinas argues that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of his capital trial. As was the case with the penalty phase ineffectiveness claims, the Circuit Court's legal conclusion is reviewed de novo, while the subsidiary factual findings are reviewed for clear error. For the reasons set out below, the denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

The first sub-claim contained in Gudinas' brief is a claim that trial counsel were ineffective for "fail[ing] to test the semen and saliva found on the victim for DNA." The Circuit Court

²²In fact, the sister's willingness to testify despite this incident is helpful, rather than harmful, to Gudinas.

 $^{^{23}}$ This claim is Claim I in the Motion as amended. (R812).

made extensive findings of fact with respect to this issue:

As to the Defendant's claim that his defense attorneys were ineffective for failing to have physical evidence tested, the Defendant did not produce any evidence as to what the results of such testing would have been or how such testing would have impacted the earlier proceedings. Moreover, Mr. Irwin testified that he thought the forensic evidence was a double-edged sword, and that he did not want to bring out any more forensic evidence which would have implicated the Defendant. (E88) Mr. Irwin testified that he did not feel that it would have bene worth the risk even to attempt to have a confidential analysis of the evidence. (E93-93)

Furthermore, at the evidentiary hearing, both defense counsel testified that their decisions as to what their trial strategy would be and whether they should pursue the testing of the physical evidence for DNA were influenced by the statements that the Defendant made to them. Mr. Irwin recalled the Defendant making the statement that Michele McGrath's body was heavy as ti was being pulled into the alleyway. (E117) Mr. LeBlanc testified that the Defendant made the statement that he recalled waking up in the presence of Ms. McGrath's body. (E3235) This information must be considered in evaluating the strategic decisions of defense counsel.

The Court finds that defense counsel made a strategic decision to avoid further testing of the physical evidence which could have been damaging to the Defendant's case. In light of the evidence implicating the Defendant, the decision of defense counsel was certainly reasonable. Further, the Defendant did not make any showing of how the testing of the evidence would have resulted in any different outcome at trial or at sentencing. Thus, the Defendant is not entitled to any relief.

On a similar note, the Defendant has made two other claims alleging ineffective assistance

of counsel with respect to DNA evidence which can be resolved in conjunction with the instant claim. The Defendant was given the opportunity to present evidence as to these issues at the evidentiary hearing. First, the Defendant alleged that it was ineffective assistance for defense counsel to agree not to argue the lack of DNA evidence if the State did not use any DNA evidence at trial. Irwin testified that, after considering the statements that the Defendant made to him, he didn't want to do anything to move the DNA testing process along. (E119-120) By agreeing not to argue the DNA issue, Mr. Irwin was attempting to prevent further DNA testing by the State. This was a logical, strategic decision under the circumstances, and it cannot be the basis for an ineffective assistance claim as counsel was not deficient.

Secondly, the Defendant asserts that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to have the semen and saliva samples found on the victim tested for DNA. As discussed above, because the Defendant's statements put him at the scene, Mr. Irwin avoided any DNA testing this type of forensic evidence. Interestingly, the Defendant presented no evidence as to what the results of such testing would have been, nor what effect they would have had on the proceedings. Counsel's actions in attempting to avoid further incriminating evidence was not deficient.

(R1396-97). As those findings make clear, trial counsel had clearly developed and well-articulated reasons for **not** seeking DNA typing -- chief among those reasons were Gudinas' inculpatory statements to them. (R243, 244, 272, 274, 279, 358, 361). Counsel's decision to avoid generating inculpatory evidence does not amount to deficient performance, nor did it result in prejudice to the defendant.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, the state of the record is that Gudinas had made statements to his counsel which were highly inculpatory, and, when considered in light of the known evidence and facts, led counsel to determine that it would be "devastating" to the defense to seek DNA typing. (R246). Gudinas has not shown that no reasonable lawyer would reach that conclusion, and, because that is so, cannot prevail on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Waters, supra.

The next component of Gudinas' guilt phase ineffectiveness claim is his claim that counsel failed to adequately cross-examine Jane Brand and Frank Wrigley. With respect to this sub-claim, the Circuit Court held:

The Defendant alleges that defense counsel failed to adequately cross examine Jane Brand, who was called by the State to establish the Defendant's presence at the scene of the crime. Ms. Brand testified that she briefly saw a person on the steps leading into the school where she worked. (T292) This school is adjacent to the alley in which the victim's body was found. Ms. Brand also testified that she recognized the Defendant as the person she saw on the steps after seeing him on television one month prior to the trial. (T302-03) The record clearly refutes the Defendant's claim that defense counsel was ineffective in cross examining Ms. Brand. During dross examination, defense counsel was able to elicit testimony from Ms. brand that the individual on the steps had his back o her and that the entire encounter lasted only one to two minutes. (T303) It was also established that Ms. Brand did not get a good look at the person's face and that she was unable to

provide sufficient information to allow an artist to complete a composite of the suspect. (T303-04) Further, when the person spoke, the witness did not notice an accent. (T305) The jury had already heard during the direct examination that the person Ms. Brand saw stood with his back to her and appeared to be rearranging his clothing, and that Ms. Brand turned away to give him privacy. (T294) Thus, defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to revisit this issue. With respect the identification after seeing the Defendant on television, defense counsel pointed out that Ms. Brand had seen composites of the suspect prior to the television broadcast of the Defendant. (T306) From the record, it is apparent that defense counsel's examination deficient. was not Moreover, the Defendant cannot demonstrate prejudice.

(R1393-94). The resolution of these claims by the Circuit Court is correct, and should not be disturbed. The most that Gudinas has done is suggest that present counsel would have handled the cross-examination of these witnesses differently. That is not the standard by which ineffective assistance of counsel claims are evaluated, and there is no basis for relief.

On pages 82-84 of his brief, Gudinas asserts that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the introduction of a bloody shirt and to certain testimony given by Frank Wrigley. With respect to this sub-claim, the Circuit Court stated:

The Defendant claims that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the introduction into evidence of a tee shirt found in Defendant's apartment. (T707) This argument is based on the allegation that it wasn't proven that he was wearing the shirt on the night of the incident, and the blood on

the shirt was never established to be his nor the victim's. In fact, Dwayne Harris testified that the Defendant was wearing the shirt with the blood stains when he returned to the apartment on the morning following the murder. (T685) Dwayne Harris also testified that the shirt was taken into evidence by the police. (T692) The Defendant is correct that testing of blood the stains inconclusive. However, the Defendant does not explain how this would result in the evidence being irrelevant. The fact that a murder suspect returned home a few hours after the murder with blood stained clothes is certainly relevant evidence. Thus, the Defendant has established that defense counsel's performance was deficient for failing to object to the admission of the tee shirt, nor does he demonstrate prejudice.

The Defendant's next argument is that defense counsel did not make a timely objection and move for a mistrial immediately after Frank Wrigley testified that he would call the police if Fred Harris thought the Defendant had committed the crime. (T579) After Mr. Wrigley's testimony was completed, defense counsel moved for a mistrial. (T600) Defense counsel and the State presented arguments outside the presence of the jury, and the motion for a mistrial was denied. (T600-004) Instead, a curative instruction was given. (T606) The failure of defense counsel to object contemporaneously did not result in any prejudice to the Defendant because the motion for a mistrial was heard despite the lack of a contemporaneous objection. In addition, Mr. Wrigley's comment was addressed by a curative instruction. The comment did not affect the fairness and reliability of the proceeding or the outcome.

(R1397-98). Those findings establish that this sub-claim has no legal basis. The Circuit Court's finding that trial counsel was not ineffective should not be disturbed.

V. THE JUROR INTERVIEW CLAIM

On pages 84-85 of his brief, Gudinas argues that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that the "rules prohibiting his lawyers from interviewing jurors" are unconstitutional. This claim is procedurally barred under well-settled Florida law, as the collateral proceeding trial court found. That ruling is supported by the record, and should not be disturbed.

The Circuit Court held that this claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal to the Florida Supreme Court. See, Ragsdale v. State, 720 So.2d 203,205 (Fla. 1998); see also, Arbelaez v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S586 (Fla. 2000); Kearse v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S507 (Fla. 2000). That finding is correct.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, all of the "facts" which could have provided arguable support for this claim were known at the time of the direct appeal. (R1417). Further, as the Circuit Court pointed out, Gudinas did not meet his burden of pleading because he did not allege, under oath, factual allegations which, if true, would require the granting of a new trial. (R1417). The trial court's ruling is correct and should not be disturbed.

VI. THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE

DEATH PENALTY ACT CLAIM²⁴

On pages 86-95 of his brief, Gudinas raises three separate claims concerning the constitutionality of the death penalty act. Specifically, he claims that the collateral proceeding trial court erred in not granting an evidentiary hearing on his claims concerning the "during the commission of a felony instruction", the jury instruction on the weighing of aggravation and mitigation, and the jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator. Given that these claims are purely legal in nature, the collateral proceeding trial court did not abuse its discretion in deciding these claims without an evidentiary hearing. 25 Moreover, the record does not establish that Gudinas asked for an evidentiary hearing on these claims -- in fact, at the Huff hearing, counsel stated that Gudinas would rely on what was contained in the motion as to these claims (Claims VIII, IX, and X). It is, a best, disingenuous to represent to the Circuit Court that no hearing is requested, and then seek to place that court in error on appeal because no hearing was held. At best, this is a

 $^{\,^{24}\}mathrm{These}$ claims are Claims VIII, IX and X of the Motion as amended.

²⁵Because these claims are purely legal in nature, no evidentiary development of them is possible. Because Gudinas has framed this issue as a denial of an evidentiary hearing issue, the impossibility of such a hearing, and the absence of an abuse of discretion in its denial, is dispositive of the claim. While that is a sufficient basis for denial of relief, the State has set out other bases for denial, as well.

claim of invited error.

To the extent that further discussion of the claims contained within this issue is necessary, the various substantive claims are meritless for the following reasons. As to the "automatic aggravator" claim, the trial court stated:

This claim could have been raised on direct appeal, and since it was not, it is procedurally barred. The Defendant makes no claim of ineffective assistance as to this issue.

(R1414). That result is in accord with settled Florida law, and should not be disturbed. Alternatively and secondarily, this claim lacks merit. Lowenfeld v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988). Hudson v. State, 708 So.2d 256, 262 (Fla. 1998) (rejecting argument that the murder in the course of a felony aggravator is an invalid, automatic aggravator); Sireci v. State, 25 Fla. Law Weekly S673 (Fla. 2000); Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995) (finding no merit to claim that instruction on murder in the course of a felony acts as automatic aggravator).

The second component of Gudinas' claim is his claim that the jury instruction on the weighing of the aggravators and mitigators "shifts the burden of proof". As the trial court found, this claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal to the Florida Supreme Court. (R1415). Alternatively, as the trial court also found, this claim is meritless. SanMartin v. State, 705 So.2d 1337, 1350 Fla. 1997); Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995).

The final component of this claim is Gudinas' claim concerning the jury instruction given on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator. This Court found this claim procedurally barred on direct appeal, and the Circuit Court properly applied a procedural bar to relitigation of this claim on collateral attack. (R1414-15). Further, with respect to the fact-based component of this claim, this Court stated:

Over the course of twelve pages, the trial court exhaustively laid out the aggravating circumstances, mitigating circumstances, supporting facts, and relevant testimony in its sentencing order. Regarding HAC, the trial court devoted three pages to Dr. Hegert's testimony detailing the injuries to Michelle McGrath. The testimony supports the State's theory that many if not all of the injuries, were inflicted before a blow to the head caused unconsciousness and eventually death. We believe the evidence is broad enough that a trier of fact could reasonably infer that the victim was conscious during the sexual batteries and other injuries that were inflicted upon her before her death. Therefore, we agree with the State that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the HAC aggravator was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. As in Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1012, 1019 (Fla. 1994), we affirm this finding since "the State's theory ... prevailed, is supported by the facts, and has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt."

Gudinas v. State, 693 So.2d at 966. There is no basis for relief.

VII. THE CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM

On pages 96-97 of his brief, Gudinas raises a claim of "cumulative error". The trial court found this claim procedurally barred, stating:

This claim is procedurally barred because it could have been, but was not, raised at trial or on direct appeal. Even if the claim was not procedurally barred, the Florida Supreme Court has provided that where allegations

of individual error are found to be without merit, a cumulative error argument based thereon must also fail. See Bryan v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S516 (Fla. October 26, 1999).

(R1418). That disposition is correct under settled law, and should not be disturbed. Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037 (Fla. 2000) ("any claim that cumulative errors committed at trial prejudiced the outcome of his case must be raised on direct appeal; therefore, Occhicone is procedurally barred from raising this claim here."); Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So.2d 1321, 1323-24 (1994); Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974 (Fla. 2000) ("we affirm the trial court's denial of claim XX regarding cumulative error because we have considered the individual alleged errors and find them to be without merit."); Downs v. State, 740 So.2d 506, 509 n. 5 (Fla. 1999).

CONCLUSION

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